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HALIFAX AT THE TIME OF 
CONFEDERA TION1 

PHYLLIS R. BLAKELEY2 

I N 1867 an even better view of Halifax could be obtained 
from Citadel Hill than to-day because the spreading trees 

that now obstruct the view, though immensely improving the 
appearance of the city, had not been planted. At that date 
Halifax was clustered on the eastern slope of the Citadel and 
along the waterfront from South Street to North Street. Look­
ing southward toward McNab's Island and the mouth of the 
harbor, one could see the squat wooden buildings of Artillery 
Park, St. Mary's Cathedral, and St. Matthew's Church. The 
section south of Morris Street was known as Smith's fields, 
where a few houses were being built on such streets as Inglis, 
Kent, Tobin and Victoria Road. Beyond the broad expanse 
of Miller's Field lay Point Pleasant and Tower Woods, owned 
by the military and dominated by Fort Ogilvie, Fort Cambridge, 
and the Prince of Wales' Tower, now the Martello Tower. 

Stretching westward, the Common was simply an open 
space, fairly level, part of it having been graded for horse races 
and military reviews, although some swamp and rocks remained. 
The trees along its borders, which now add so much to its 
beauty, had not been planted. An open drain ran across it 
from what is now the corner of Cunard and Robie Streets, 
thence to Griffin's Pond, a large square pond that was later 
transformed in to the present charming circular one in the 
Public Gardens, and then down South Park Street and through 
Smith's fields to Freshwater or the Kissing Bridge. The Com­
mon as it exists at present is little more than the North Common 
of 1867. Much of the South Common then remained empty 
from South Park Street to Robie Street, and South Street to 
Sackville Street, although encroachments had begun in the 
lots leased to the Horticultural Society, the Convent of the 
Sacred Heart, and to the City and Provincial Hospital, the 

1. This article is ba.sed on the following books, manuscripts, maps and news­
papers in the Public Archives of Nova Scotia. Business Directory of City of Halifax 
for 1853-9, H3.lifax, Richard P. Nugent 185,8; Census of Canada 1870-71; Census of Nova 
Scotia taken March 30, 1861, Halifax, N. S; Printed by E. M. McDonald 1862; Halifax 
Association for Improving the Condition of the Poor, Constitution and By-Laws 1867, 
H3.lifax, Macnab and Shaefer, 1867; Hutchinson's Nova Scotia Directory, 1866-67 
Harry Piers' Evolution of the Halifax Fortress; John Quinpool's First Things in Acadia 
1936, First Things Publishers Limited, Halifax, N. S.; History of the Halifax Streei 
Railway by Stanley Borden (unpunlished MSS. of N. S. Historical Society); Plan of 
the City of HJ.lifax on A. F. Church's Topographical M!lp of Halifax County, 1864· 
City Atlas of Halifax, N. S., by H. W. Hopkins, Civil Engineer, 1878; and a careful 
analysis of the Acadian Recorder, Bhtish Colonist, Morning Chronicle, and Novascotian. 

2. Research Assistant, Provincial Archives, Nova Sootia. 


